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1. Name

historic N/A

?" M R A
and/or common i i Waukesha (Rartiel—Iny cutory. H:Lstoric“amr—g\

— A ATchitecteral Tlstricts Sl ProperIes ™
2. Location

street & number Se€e individual and district survey forms. not for publication

city, town Waukesha ~.___ vicinity of ecangsssianahsistuioh

state 5 Wisconsin: code - 2 county Waukesha _— code 133

3. Classification

Category Ownership Status Preseht Use

_X_distrlct —— public . —-_ occupied —_ agriculture — . museum

—X_ building(s) — private —£_ unoccupied X commercial X park

_X_structure  _X_both " work in progress —X_educationai - _X_private residence

— site Public Acquisition Accessible ____entertainment —X_religious

—object —_in process —X_ yes: restricted —X_government —— scientific

Multiple —— b7ing considered _X-. yes: unrestricted —X_ industrial — transportation
X N/A —_no ) —__ millitary ____other:

Resources

4. Owner of Property

name Multiple ownership (see individual intensive survey forms)

street & number

~ city, town : ' ___vicinlty of state

5. Location of Legal DeScriptiqn

courthouse, registry of deeds, etc. "aukesha County Courthouse.

street & number 515 West Moreland Boulevard

city, town Waukesha ‘ . otate Wisconsin 53186

6. Representation in Existing Surveys

(See continuation sheet)
title Wlsconsm Invemtorv of Historic Places has this property been determined eligible? ___yes _X no

date 1979 —_federal _X state ___county __iocai

depository for survey records State Historical Society of Wisconsin

city, town - Madisgn state Wisconsin 53706
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Wankesha Intensive Historic Resources Survey
1982 . Local/State

City Hall, Waukesha
Waukesha County Historical Society, Waukesha Wisconsin 53186

State Historical Society of Wisconsin, Madison Wisconsin 53186

Properties presently listed in the National Register of Historic Places

Chandler House 151 W. College listed in 1974
Iain=-Estberg House 229 Wisconsin Avenue listed in 1974
0ld County Courthouse 10l W. Main listed in 1975



7. Description

Condition Check one Check one

_X_ excellent _X _deteriorated _X _unaltered _X_ original site

X - good —___ruins _X_ altered _X moved date __See below
X fair -~ unexposed

Describe the present and original (if known) physical appearance
NOMINATED PROPERTIES WHICH HAVE BEEN MOVED:

A) Sloan House (WK 50/8), 912 Barstow Street, moved c. 1890

B) A.S. Putney Cottage (WK4/27), 406 Wisconsin Avenue, moved c. 1883%

C) Cutler House (WK 4/2), 401 Central Avenue, moved 1902

D) Randall House (WK 78/16), 120 McCall Street, moved 1880%%*

E) Totten~Butterfield House (WK 1/12), 515 North Grand Avenue, moved c. 1870

* Wisconsin Avenue Historic District
*% McCall Street Historic District

PHYSICAL DESCRIPTION

The city of Waukesha straddles the Fox River. This river was capable of supplying water-
generated power for saw and flour mills in the last century, but is not large enough - for
commercial navigation. Initially, settlement occured on the east bank of the river in -
what is noiw the downtown. The topography on this side of the river features a gradual
 slope toward a series of rolling hills which parallel the river approximately a half a
mile to the south and east. One of these hills was the site of a large Indian village

and later became the site of the Carroll College campus, On the west side of the river
are bluffs which are in some places steep enough to preclude development., Evidence of
glacial activity can be seen further from the river with well-defined eskers and a glacial
cone in the newer subdivisions on the far west side of the city. At the time of settle-
ment, the area consisted of prairie and oak openings. Although springs were once abundant,
only a few still flow. ‘

The rights-of-way of three railroad companies traverse the city, including the tracks of
the first railroad in the state which lie on the west bank of the Fox River. Ome U.,S,.
highway and two state highways cross the city, traveling through the downtown. An inter-
state highway crosses the northern edge of the city; since Waukesha is within easy
commuting reach of Milwaukee, recent development has tended to concentrate near highways
with access to the freeway. Because of the Fox River and the original roads, the arterial
street pattern is partially radial, focusing on the downtown. The intersection of Main
Street, Broadway and Grand Avenue is popularly known as the Five Points, which is regarded
as the center of the city. ‘

The downtown lies' primarily east of the Fox River. It is relatively large in area, but
the majority of buildings are three stories or less in height, The Waukesha Downtoun
Historic District lies west of the Five Points and contains several blocks of limestone
commercial buildings dating from the mid-19th century. The downtown is surrounded by a
ring of mixed land uses including parks, churches, schools, commercial strips, and
residences. Some of the larger homes of prominent citizens were built in this area,

but most that remain have been converted to offices or multi-family residential, The
four-building Wisconsin Avenue Historic District lies within this land as well as several
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individual sites such as the Frame House at 507 N. Grand Avenue (WK 1/15)

now a lawyer's office, and the Totten~Butterfield House at 515 N. Grand

Avenue (WK 1/12) now a doctor's office. The Fox River and railroad corridors
are flanked by industrial and recreational uses. Older residential neighbore
hoods are laid out in grid patterns to the northwest and southeast of the
downtown. These areas have generally retained their original residential '
functions and contain the majority of the properties included in this nomination.

Three residential historic districts lie approximately one=half mile
southeast of the Five Points. Several proposed individual sites are also
located just south of downtown on West and Maple Avenues and throughout the
older area east of the Fox River. Although the neighborhoods on the west side
of the Fox River contain some fine older homes, they are smaller in scale and
less elaborate than those on: the €ast side., The nomination includes
only four properties west of the River, the Moor Mud Baths at 500 Riverview
(WK 43/9), the Pokrandt blacksmith shop (WK 43/36) at 126 St. Paul Avenue,
Yanke building EWK 43/33) at 200 Madison Street, and the Blair House at 434
Madison Street (WK 7/12). Surrounding the older neighborhoods are large sub=-
divisions built since the 1950's; whereas development prior to this era was
primarily continuous expanding ring, growth since 1950 has tended to be
scattered and discontinuous.

SIGNIFICANT PERIODS OF DEVELOEMENT

The periods discussed in this section include: the Mill Town Era (1834-1850),
Commercial/Governmental Center Era (1850-1870), the Springs Era (1870-1900)
and Industrial Era (post 1900).

Mill Town Era 1834-1850

Morris and Alonzo Cutler arrived in what is now Waukesha in 1834, They laid

out two 160=acre claims which ineluded much of what is now the older part of
Waukesha. The original settlers came in search of good farmland and tended to
scatter on farmsteads throughout the area. In 1836, the first store in Waukesha
was opened in a cabin near what is now Walton and College, about three=-quarters
of a mile from what is now the Five Points. However, the next year the store

was moved to a new log building on a site which is now on the edge of the down-
town.

In 1838, Congress authorized a territorial road to be built between Dubuque

and Milwaukee. This crude road followed the route of present U.S. Highway 18
and put Prairie Village on the only transportation route between the port of
Milwankee and the interior of the State. The following year, the largest flour
mill in the area was opened on the banks of the Fox River near what is now the
Broadway bridge. This mill attracted other economic activity such as the first
limestone quarry, located in 1840 on what is now the northern end of the Carroll
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College campus. In 1845, the first manufacturing plant was built on the east
side of Broadway near the Fox River; this building also housed a meeting hall
and became the home of the City's first newspaper. Both the mill and the plant (later
known as Blair's foundry) were demolished.
By 1850, the village encompassed what is now considered the downtown. The
core of development, consisting of the mills and Blair.'s foundry, was Jjust
east of the Fox River near Broadway. Because the downtown has gone through
. renewal since that era, little remains in the downtown that dates from before
1850, with certain exceptions such as the Sloan House at 912 Barstow Street
(WK 50/8) and the Totten-Butterfield House at 515 N. Grand Avenue (WK 1/12).

Commercial/Governmental Center Era 1850-1870

In 1846, Waukesha County was created out of the sixteen western townships

of Milwaukee County. The City of Waukesha became the County Seat thus attract-
ing additional political power as well as more business for the community. The
original stone courthouse built in 1849 has since been replaced by another
limestone courthouse at 10l W. Main Street (NRHP 1975).

In 1851, the first railroad in the State of Wisconsin linked Waukesha and
Milwaukee. This railroad, later to become the Milwaukee Road, followed the

west bank of the Fox River. The second railroad to come to Waukesha (later to
become the Chicago Northwestern) arrived in 1882, The Wisconsin Central (later
the Soo Line) built a third rail system through the City in 1887 which included
a 1l2-stall roundhouse known as the Great Waukesha Shops. The shops are now partially
destroyed.

In this period, most industrial development occurred on the east side of the Fox
River near the Broadway crossing. However, in 1866, the Waukesha County Manu=
facturing Company, a large woolen mill, opened near the corner of North and Dela=-
field, making it the first major industry to locate on the west side of the Fox
River. The main building of the woolen mill has been demolished.

It was during this period that downtown Waukesha took on a new look of permanance
and prosperity. Up to this point, the downtown consisted primarily of free=
standing frame stores. However, following the construction of the Robinson

Block (Wk 6/36) at 342-l W. Main Street in 1857, portions of the downtown developed
substantial, abutting, limestone buildings of two and three stories. These
buildings ranged in style from Italianate and Queen Anne to Classical Revival.

West of the five points these buildings still remain and are included in the Down=
town Historic District.

From 1850 to 1870, the City continued to expand primarily on the east side of the
Fox River extending to include roughly a half-square mile area bounded by the Fox
River, Maple Avenue, College Avenue and Barney Street. In this period, the first
few houses were built in the four proposed residential historic districts. In
addition,several fine buildings remain from this era and are included in the nom=-
ination,
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Springs Era 1870~1900

In 1868, Colonel Richard Dunbar proclaimed that water from the Bethesda Springs
hag restored his health. He and others began marketing the spring water and
before long Waukesha had a whole new major industry. Approximately 50 springs were
operating at one time or another in the City. The most famous included the .
Bethesda, Hygeia and Silurian Springs, now in Waukesha Springs Park (Wk 2/59).
Bottling plants were developed by many springs in order to ship the water to
distant markets; the most famous plants include the White Rock Company at 1702
White Rock Avenue (Wk 42/36) and the Arcadian Bottling Plant at 900 N. Hartwell
Avenue (Wk 42/26). These springs attracted thousands of visitors each year and
the supply of hotel rooms had to be expanded. The largest hotel was the Fountain
Springs Hotel, rebuilt in 1879 to accomodate 800 guests,reputedly 'the largest

in the midwest. Some of these hotels are still in existence, such as the
National Hotel at 235 W. Main (Wk 6/7) and the Hadfield House at 402 Wisconsin
Avenue (Wk 4/26). Even though the Springs Era began to fade at the turn of

the century, large spas were nevertheless constructed, such as the Moor Mud

Bath Hotel at 500 Riverview (Wk 43/9) and the Resthaven Hotel built in 1905 at

915 N. Hartwell Avenue (Wk 5/7). The largest concentration of hotels remained

in the downtown: besides. the National, the demolished Spring City, Mansion House,Ex=-
change,and American. From this central location, visitors could travel to the
springs in some cases using a tour boat which operated on the Fox River between
downtown and the White Rock Springs. However, some hotels were located near
springs at the outskirts of the Cityjthe demolished Park Hotel, TFountain Spring
House, and the Terrace. Numerous hotels were also scattered throughout the city.
With a few exceptions--the destoyed Hyde Park Hotél or the Keeley Institute--these
hotels were east of the Fox River. These springs and hotels sometimes attracted
other decentralized development such as the large rooming house which was built
next to the Fountain Spring House for employees of the resort.

The Springs Era began to decline after the peak season of 1895 and was virtually
ended following WW I. In 1900, the City of Waukesha remained centered around
the downtown in an area of about two square miles. An 1896 map, of the City
emphasizes the fact that almost the entire City was within one mile of the Post
Office.

The majority of properties proposed in this nomingtion are ass$ocisted in some
form or another with Waukesha's Springs Era. This era saw the construction of
many major buildings in the downtown. Most development in the four proposed
historic districts occured in this period and in fact, the proposed Iaflin Avenue
Distriect was developed in this era by Mathew Laflin, owner of the large Fountain
Springs Hotel. The growth of Carroll College toward the turn of the century
also complemented residential development in the College Avenue and MeCall Street
Districts. Most of the properties proposed as individual sites were built in
this period and many are directly related to the spring phenomenon.
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Industrial Era 1900=-

In 1891, the Waukesha Malleable Company opened a small foundry next to the

Wisconsin Central Railroad Shops on the northeast side of the City. This

plant grew to a four furnace foundry by 1920 and eventually became two foundry

complexes: General Castings and International Harvester. In 1912 and 1913,

three more foundries were added to the City including the Spring City Foundry

west of the Fox River. The Waukesha Motor Company, started on North Street in

1906 and eventually moved to a large plant just south of the Spring City Foundry

on the west side of the Fox River. Most older industrial buildings in the city have

been altered, annexed, or otherwise modified.

As these industries prospered and grew in the 1920's, the City expanded rapidly.

Industrial complexes grew along the Fox River and the railroad corridors.

Neighborhoods of worker housing surrounded the older and often larger houses

built in the Springs Era. The City grew slowly from 1940 to 1950 but then

major expansion occured after WW II which has more than doubled the size of

the City in the last two decades. Because most industrial structures from this era

have lost integrity, the only nominated industrial structures are the Arcadian Bottling

Works,the Pokrandt Blacksmith Shop,the Waukesha Pure Food Co., and the White Rock complex,
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION

The architecture of Waukesha is quite diverse, ranging from utilitarian industrial
buildings to residences which reflect the major architectural styles of the
nineteenth and twentieth centuries. As in most comminities, the building stock
of the City reflects the resources of the surrounding area. In Waukesha, the
underlying limestone provided the material and impetus for building.

The limestone, or more specifically, Niagara dolomite, was quarried as early

as 1840. The Niagars dolomite was a high quality stone, suitable for a number

of uses, including building stone, water tables, door sills and window caps. (1)
The quality of this local stone remains apparent in the very cohesive, distinctive
commercial district and in a number of beautifully crafted residential and
religious buildings in the City.

The limestone industry also contributed to, and nurtured the creation of a
relatively large population of builders and masons in Waukesha. Rather than
relying on architects, the majority of the buildings in the City were designed
by local builders, undoubtedly with the assistance of architectural pattern
books. Often the designs executed by local builders are quite similar, and

in some of the subdivisions (developed during the 1880's and 1890's) this
repetition of identical designs results in a cohesive group. (see MeCall Street
Historic District)
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The development of Waukesha, and its prosperity from the 1870's to early 1900's,
also depended on the underlying limestone; specifically as the source for

mineral springs which provided the impetus for the development of Waukesha as

a major resort community. Although the fanciful springhouses and many elegant
hotels have been destroyed, a number of important resort buildings remain from
this period, as do significant examples of residential and commercial architecture.

This section is organized by bullding type: residential, commercial and public,
industrial, educational and religious. The appearance and progression of archi-
tectural styles is examined for each type of structure.

RESIDENTIAL DESIGN

The greatest variety of styles and materials appears in Waukesha's residential
buildings. The majority of these buildings are frame; however, stone was employed
prior to the Civil War and, sporadically throughout the late 1800's. Brick
construction, particularly the use of Cream City Brick, was popular during the
1870's but was virtually discontinued in the early 1880's as the City expanded
and entered a "boom" period in building. Balloon frame houses, constructed with
similar plans and detailed with stock patterns, were well suited to the rapid
construction of Waukesha's subdivisions and to the picturesque designs favored
during the late nineteenth century. The use of brick and stone, although handled
differently, was again favored during the 1920's and 30's with the advent of
Period Revivals.

Greek Revival

The Greek Revival style, based on classical precedents, appeared in Waukesha in
the early 1840's and remained popular into the 1860's. These designs were generally
two story, rectangular buildings, which in some instances included a one~story
side wing. The gable end served as the main facade with fenestration consisting
of three windows on the second story, two windows and an entrance on the first.
The entrance was positioned to open onto a side hall, rather than being centered,
and. often was surrounded by sidelights and transom. Classical detailing, designed
to emulate Greek temples, included cornices, columms and pilasters. The most
highly developed examples of the "temple front" design in Waukesha are the Issac
Lain house at 229 Wisconsin Avenue €NRHP 1974) and the more modest Totten-Butter-
field house at 515 N. Grand Avenue (Wk 1/12), included in the nomination.

The majority of the Greek Revival designs in the City employ thin corner pilasters
and cornice returns to suggest the temple form although many have lost these
details in twentieth century remodelings. The best remaining building which re=-
tains the abstracted temple facade is the Morris Cutler house at 4Ol Central
Avenue (Wk 4/2), included in the nomination.
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The Greek Revival style was often employed for construction of residences made
of local limestone. The earliest of these, and also the oldest stone building
in Waukesha, is the Sloan house at 912 Barstow (Wk 50/8). Other examples
which have been nominated are: the Methodist District Parsonage at 239 W.
College Avenue (Wk 37/23) within the College Avenue Historic District, the
George house at 210 McCall Street (Wk 37/27) and the Bowron/Randles house at
403 McCall Street (Wk 78/24) both within the MeCall Street Historic District.

Transitional

The basic proportions and pattern of fenestration exhibited in Greek Revival
designs persisted in some instances through the 1870's. These designs were
transitional, retaining the basic massing of the Greek Revival but increasingly
including Italianate detailing. A number of examples of this type appear in
the city in both brick and frame. The best brick examples have been nominated:
the Martin Brown house at 816 N. East Avenue (Wk 2/18) and the William Carroll
house at 142 W. Main Street (Wk 48/8). The best frame example is at 115
McCall Street (Wk 38/10) within the McCall Street Historic District.

Ttalianate

Buildings which were more specifically Italianate in design were being erected
in the same time period, or earlier, than the transitional designs described
above. The earliest Italianate building identified in Waukeshe is an Italianate
cottage, the A, S. Putney house at 406 Wisconsin Avenue (Wk L4/27) Wisconsin ave.
Historic District,c. 1870.Another important example of the Ttalianate style is
the James house at 726 N. East Avenue (Wk 2/17). From approximately 1875 to
1880, a number of prominent citizens replaced their original houses with large,
stylish Victorian Ttalianate residences.Several_ superbh  examples of this period
remain in the City, and are not only similar stylistically but are also all
constructed of the same material, Cream City Brick, wNominated examples
include ° . " the Buchner house at 609 E. Broadway (Wk 38/23); the
Frame house at 507 N. Grand Avenue (Wk 1/15); the Street house at 348 Wisconsin
Avenue (Wk l;/2l;),, Wisconsin Ave, Historic Digtrict) and the Blair House, 434 Madison
(WK 7/12). All are included in the nomination.

Victorian Gothic

Contemporary with the Italianate buildings were more picturesque, Victorian

Gothic structures. Two cream brick examples of this style, the Hemlock house

at 234 Carroll Street (Wk 37/32) and the Howitt house at LO7 N. Grand Avenue

(Wk 1/20), exhibit the vertical proportions, steep and complex roofs and decora-
tive gable ornament typical of the style. An equally fine masonry building,
constructed of locally quarried stone, the J. J. Hadflield house at 712 N. East
Avenue (Wk 2/15) employs rock~faced blocks, randomly coursed to create & rich,

and variegated texture. The City also has outstanding frame examples of the style:
the Chandler House at 151 W. College Avenue (NRHP 1974) and the Pratt house at

501 Barney Street (Wk 38/17).The examples cited are included in the nomination.
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Second Ewire

Second Empire designs are relatively rare in Waukesha. The best example, the
Hadfield House at 402 Wisconsin Avenue (Wk 4/26), was constructed in 1883 as

a boarding house. The Second Empire style, distinguished by the mansard roof,
was particularly well suited to the boarding house function (providing space
but articulated to negate the size) and was employed for another boarding house,
the Showerman house at 352 Wisconsin Avenuve (Wk 5/12) constructed around 1901.

Both buildings are included in the Wisconsin Avenue Historic District.

Picturesque

Increasingly during the 1880's, architectural designs were affected by the
growing concern for proper sanitation, health considerations and desires for
integration between house and landscape. Waukesha was undoubtedly attuned to
these issues, particularly during the period of resort and spa development.

In Waukesha, the land surrounding the muecleus of the village, which is primarily
the area south of the Fox River, was subdivided during the lé80's and 90's. Many
of the prominent citizens, as well as land companies, were responsible for the
development of subdivisions which were rapidly filled with frame houses. Generally
these buildings:were sited on large lots, raised on high cut stone foundations,
asymmetrically massed with complex gabled roofs and greater expanses of glazed
areas, and distinguished by the inclusion of ornamented porches or commodious
verandas .

In categorizing the architecture of this era, a progression toward picturesque

designs, culminating in the Queen Anne designs first appeared in 1883, whereas

simpler Victorian Picturesque designs date from the 1880's through the 1890's.

Many of these buildings are important as a record of the architectural develop-
ment of the community.

The simplest design consists of intersecting, gable roof masses forming a cross
shaped design. The facade contains one pair of windows, centered on each story,
which are capped by shaped lintels. Adjoining the main gable is a one~story porch,
composed of chamfered or turned posts and spindle work. Typical of this design

is the Sinsel house at 149 W. Iaflin Avenue (Wk 81/17) a pivotal structure in ‘the
ILaflin Avenue Historic District.

Another variation of this house form repeats the scale and asymmetry but is covered
by a more complex roof, composed of gables projecting from a hip roof. Windows

are regularly disposed, and.again occur in pairs which are set beneath straight
cgps. Detailing remains relatively simple, oftten limited to shingle work at the
attic level, and turned posts on the porch which wraps around the corner of the
building. Two of the best examples of this phase of Victorian Picturesque design
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are the Glover house at 109 MeCall Street (Wk 38/11) and the Putney house at
123 McCall Street (Wk 38/13), both pivotal buildings in the MeCall Street
Historic District. Many contributing buildings in the MeCall Street District
also follow this syle but have been somewhat altered in twentieth century
remodelings: the Korn house at 205-9 McCall Street (Wk 78/31), the Goetz
house at 320=-22 McCall Street (Wk 78/19), and the Kimball House at 125 McCall
Street (Wk 78/34) and the Wells house at 20l McCall Street (Wk 78/32).

later examples of the Victorian Picturesque style, dating from the late 1890's,
exhibit a greater array of surfacing materials and consequently appear more
textural and picturesque. The best examples of this style are pivotal buildings
in the Iaflin Avemue Historic District at 215 W. Iaflin Avenue (Wk 37/13) and
2046 W. Iaflin Avenue (Wk 37/12).

A number of late Victorian Picturesque designs dating from the 1890's are dis-
tinguished by elaborate verandas which extend across the facade, terminating in
circular pavilions. The best example of this style is the Jones house at 501 W.
College Avemnve (Wk 37/27), included in the nomination.

gueen Anne

Hallmarks of the early phase of the Queen Anne style included vertical propor-
tions, strong profiles achleved through inclusion of towers and multiple gables,
and. textural variety resulting from the combination of surfacing materials.
Characteristically the style was quite eclectic, incorporating motifs from other
styles which were not individually developed in the City (particularly the Stick
Style and Shingle Style). The Grace house at 307 N. West Avenue (Wk 39/19) is
the best example of the Queen Anne style incorporating motifs derived from the
Stick Style. Other excellent examples of the early phase of the Queen Anne
featured angular towers, multiple gables and intricate porches resulting in an
agitated silhouette and facade on these designs. These nominated properties are
the Dwinnell house at 442 W. College Avenue (Wk 37/28) and the Camillia Smith
house at 603 N. West Averwe (Wk 39/5).

The tower remained a hallmark of the Queen Anne style throughout the nineteenth
century but increasingly became less angular, and more volumetric and integrated
into the building proper. Three bulldings in the proposed McCall Street district
are excellent examples of this phase of the style: the Park house at 415 McCall
Street (Wk 36/21), the Buchan house at 233 N. James Street (Wk 36/25) and the
Elliot house at 501 Dunbar (Wk 39/6). Although no pure examples of the Shingle
Style exist in Waukesha, an awareness of it is apparent in the smooth, shingled
surfaces of a mumber of designs even though the massing of the building retains
the Queen Anne flavor. The Teller house at 200 McCall Street (Wk 36/26), a
Kivotal building in the McCall Street District, is a fine example of this style.

more modest example is the contributing building in the MeCall Street District
at 236 N. Hartwell Avenue (Wk 36/19).
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Another source for decorative schemes in Queen Amme designs was provided by
classical designs. Classical motifs were applied to the exterior of the

Welch house, a nominated property at 1616 White Rock Avenue (Wk 5/29), and

the Powrie house, a pivotal property in the College Avenue District at 115

W. College Avenue (Wk 37/16), while the mass remained asymmetrical, punctuated
by cylindrical towers. Classical motif's were also manipulated to form the ,
focal point of Queen Anne designs, such as the Richard Labar house, a pivotal
structure in the College Avenue District at 227 W. College Avemue (Wk 37/19)
and the Frank Patterson house, a pivotal structure in the Laflin Avenue District
at 210 W. Iaflin (Wk 37/11).

Increasingly, the massing of Queen Anne houses became contained and cubical

and, if towers appeared in the design, they were integrated into the mass,

defined only at the roof line. Ornamentation was reduced and consisted

primaxrly of classical motifs., The three best examples of this phase are the

Marn house, a nominated property at 346 Maple Avenue (Wk 39/18), the Wilbur

house, a pivotal structure in the College Avenue District at 105 S. East Avenue

(Wk 37/7) and the Nickell house, a nominated property at 511 Iake Street (Wk 42/18).

Worker's Housing

The best examples of the late nineteenth century residential styles occur in
Waukesha as relatively large scale bulldings. Another important aspect of the
City's environment is the small scale, worker's housing. The vast majority of
these structures have been remodeled, with a resultant loss of integrity; however,
the small scale form remains discernible. Concentrations of nineteenth century
workers cottages are located in the Niagara Avenue and Perkins Avenue area.
Twentieth century developments of small scale buildings occur in adjacent sube
divisions (Schuetze and Perkins) as well as north of the Fox River in the Buena
Vista area.

Cottages were erected to house workers during the nineteenth century, initially
by the owners of the stone quarries and later by other industries, notably the
railroad. The need for worker's housing became particularly urgent in the early
twentieth century as industrialists attempted to attract workers to the City.

Cottages were built by the Hadfield Company, owners of the major quarries in
Waukeshaj many of these were located north of the Fox River across from the querry.
Cottages were also built along Niagara Street and The Strand to house workers

at the Wisconsin Central Car Shops, which opened in 1888. To alleviate a housing
shortage in Waukesha, the Manufacturers' Bullding Companies was formed to finance
the construction of one hundred simple houses in the Buena Vista vieinity (north
of the Fox River). (2) One form of dwelling which appears in the Buena Vista
area 1is the bungalow. These exhibit the characteristic one-story form, with
broad gable broken by a large dormer. A number of designs in the Buena Vista
area are quite distinctive, with fieldstone (or cobblestone) employed for

front porch piers and base. The cobblestone effect appears in a number of designs
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dating from 1920's which were constructed as part of the Westowne Subdivision.
In these buildings, the entire exterior was constructed of cobblestones.

Bungalow designs are interspersed through out the eity. The Arthur C. Nickell

house, a contributing property in the McCall Street Historic District at 502

McCall (Wk 38/21), is one of the more elaborate examples of the form, and was
. designed by Milwaukee architect Henry Hengels.

Tudor Revival

The eclecticism of the Queen Anne and other nineteenth century styles became
more disciplined during the 1920's and 1930's as academic revivals appeared.
During this period, limestone again was utilized as a building material,
particularly on the Tudor Revival designs, and architects rather than builders
were responsible for the majority of the designs. The best and esrliest example
of Tudor inspired design is the Frank Putney house, a nominated property located
at 223 Wisconsin Averue (Wk 48/28). Other examples of the style date from the
late 1920's and were generally large Imshaped buildings, veneered with stone and
decorated with half timber or stucco. Two of these designs are pivotal buildings
in the College Avenue District: the Chauncy Ross house at 210 W. College (Wk 37/21)
and the Hattie James house at 216 W. College (Wk 37/22).

Mediterrenean Revival

A small rnumber of Mediterranean/Spanish Revival residences are located in the
"~ City. Distinguishing characteristics include clay tile roofs, arched openings
and sprawling plans. One example of this style is the Frank Roberts house, a
pivotal structure in the College Avenue District at 222 W. College (Wk 37/20).

Georgian Revival

By the mid 1920's architectural design in Waukesha was drawing on the American
Georgian for inspiration. The majority of the buildings erected in this style
in Waukesha are constructed of masonry, employing reddish brown brick, rather
than the cream city brick favored in the nineteenth century. The standard
pattern for these buildings is of a two~story block with the facade, on the long
axis, divided into either three or five vertical sections. The entrance, set
beneath a portico, occupies the center of the facade. Among the best examples
of this style are the Wilbur house at 115 S. East Avenue (Wk 37/5) and the Walsh
house at 123 S. East Avenue (Wk 37/4), both pivotal buildings in the College
Avenue District, and the Randle house, a pivotal building in the MeCall Street
District at 233 N. Hartwell Avenue (Wk 36/36). :
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COMMERCIAL AND FUBLIC BUILDINGS

The excellent quality of the local limestone is most apparent in the beauti-
fully crafted commercial and public buildings. Initially, the core of the
downtown, the Five Points area, was of frame construction. Following a fire

in 1857, a new era was begun with the construction of the stone Robinson Block,
a pivotal building in the Downtown Historic District at 342-344 W. Main Street
(wk 3/36). Located on the corner of Clinton and Main, this building is three
stories in height, constructed of cut stone and capped by a heavy cornice. The
cornice and regularly disposed windows set beneath heavy stone lintels, con=
tributes to the Federal flavor of the design. Buildings constructed in the next
decade reflect the Ttalianate style. '

Ttalianate

Italianate details including heavy stone hood molds, a combingtion of segmental
and round arched windows and a nicely profiled cornice, are evident on two stone
buildings erected in 1858: the Barnes Blocks, pivotal buildings in the Downtown
Historic District located at 329«333 W. Main (Wk 6/23). A similarly detailed
stone building erected in 1859 is the Jackson Block, a pivotal structure in the
Downtown District at 321 W. Main Street (Wk 6/27).

Following the Civil War, a number of commercial blocks were erected. Designed
in the Italianate style, these buildings were constructed of coursed ashlar,

laid in a running bond and articulated at the cornice by either corbelling or by
an arcature pattern, Unlike pre~Civil War designs, these designs employed round
headed windows, with arched hood molds on the upper stories. The best examples
of this period are three pivotal buildings in the Downtown Historic District: the
Jameson Block built in 1868 at 335 W. Main Street (Wk 6/22), the Angrave-Waite
Block, also built in 1868 at 337 W. Main Street (Wk 6/20) and the Orient Block,
built in 1870 at 816 N. Grand Avenue (Wk 77/10).

Other Italianate style buildings which remain in the commercial area are of brick
construction, with corbelled brick work emphasizing the metal cornices. A group

of these bulldings are located on W. Broadway, and originally established a

rhythm of identical cornices and window treatments. These buildings have been
altered, some more severly than others. The best remaining example is a contri=-
buting building in the Downtown Historic District at 320=-328 W. Broadway (Wk 77/30).

High Viectorian

The Clarke building, a pivotal structure in the Downtown Historic District at 323<5
W. Main Street (Wk 6/26) was constructed in 1888 and exhibits a Renaissance
character in the large round headed windows which are symmetrically placed on the
facade. One of the most important structures in the City, stylistically and
visually, is the Putney Block, a pivotal building in the Downtown Historic District
which is located on one of the Five Points at 301 W. Main Street(Wk 50/20).

Three stories in height, the Putney block is an excellent example of High Vietorian
commercial design (NRHP, 1982).
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gueen Anne

Beginning in the 1890's, a number of Queen Anne commercial blocks were erected
in Waukesha. The New Putney Block at 802 N. Grand Avenue (Wk 77/9), the
Nickell building at 338-4O0 W. Main Street (Wk 77/22), and the W. T. ILyles
building at 912 clinton (Wk 48/18) are excellent examples of this style and
are all pivotal structures within the Downtown Historie District. Another
distinctive Queen Anne design using limestone and granite is the Yanke
building, a nominated structure at 200 Madison Street (Wk 43/33). More eclectic,
Victorian commercial buildings also remain in Waukesha. Generally, these
incorporate elements from the Queen Anne style but are less exuberantly de-
tailed, such as the Columbia Block at 321=7 South Street (Wk 6/17) and the
Dieman Building at 332 South Street (Wk 77/19) both of which are pivotal
buildings in the Downtown Historic District.

Richardsonian Romanesque

The Waukesha County Courthouse at 10l W. Main Street (NRHP 1975) is an out=-
standing example of the Richardsonian Romanesque style. Erected in 1893-94 from
plans furnished by Rau and Kirsch, Milwaukee, the courthouse is an imposing
landmark situated on the corner of N. East Avenue and Maln Street.

Classical Revival

The early twentieth century classical styles are not particularly common in
Waukesha. The finest example within the commercial district is the Masonic
Temple, 307 South Street (Wk 48/14), constructed in 1904 and a pivotal structure
in the Downtown Historic District.

An outstanding Neo Classical bulilding, originally constructed as the Post Office
in 1913-1k, is a nominated structure at 235 W. Broadway (Wk 6/1). The other
major commercial buildings constructed during this period of classical revivals,
have been significantly altered.

Twentieth Century Commerelel

During the 1910's, new buildings, primarily constructed of red brick, were erected
as infill or replacement structures in the Five Points area. Generally two
stories in height, these were simply detailed with string courses and cornices
creating horizontal accents. The designs suggest a Prairie school influence in
some instances. These buildings are markedly different from those in the pro-
posed Downtown Historic District in style, scale and materials. Their location
east of the Five Points creates a natural termination for the district.

Modernization of existing buildings was advocated in the 1910's, and has continued
during the century. The remodeling of the First State Bank at Thlt N. Grand

(Wk 50/19) resulted in the best example of the Moderne design in Waukesha, &
pivotal building in the Downtown Historic District.
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The twentieth century also produced eclectic and exotic designs. The most
important, commercial example of this dates from 1927 and was originally
constructed as Dr. David Roberts Veterinary Building. This building is a
pivotal structure in the Downtown Historic District and is located at 726
N. Grand Avenue (Wk 50/17).

HOTEIS

Among the most important buildings in the resort commnity were the hotels.
One of the finest remaining hotel buildings is the National Hotel, erected

in 1871, which retains fine Ttalianate details including the hood molds and
cornice. The National is a nominated structure at 235 W. Main Street (Wk 6/7).
The Schlitz Hotel, a Queen Anne design built around 1900, is a pivotal struc=-
ture in the Downtown Historic District at 294 W. Main Street (Wk 50/27). The
best remaining examples of boarding houses in Waukesha are two Second Empire
designs which are pivotal buildings in the Wisconsin Avenue Historic District:
the Hadfield House at 402 Wisconsin Avenue (Wk 4/26) and the Showerman House
at 352 Wisconsin Avenue (Wk 4/25).

RESORTS , SANTPARIUMS AND MUD BATHS

Two of the important twentleth century resort structures, erected in the early
twentieth century, remain in Waukesha. The buildings employ a Classical Revival
style . and have undergone modernizations, nowever, both are large scale
buildings. - The Moor Mud Baths is a nominated property located on a hill at
500 Riverview Drive (Wk 43/9). The Resthaven resort, a major visual landmark
in Waukesha, is a nominated property at 915 N. Hartwell Avemue (Wk 5/7).

Industrial Design

During the 1850's and 60's, large industrial structures, constructed of local
stone, were erected along the Fox River. Included in this area were the Waukesha
Woolen Mill, the Weber Brewery and Blair's Foundry. The only structure remaining
is a portion of the brewery on North Street. However, a stone blacksmith shop
still stands and is a nominated structure at 126 N. St. Paul Avemnue (Wk 43/36).

RATIROAD STRUCTURES

The first rail line into the City, the Milwaukee and Mississippi, located its
depot near what is now St. Paul Avenue. The depot was connected to a large,
stone car shop. These structures have been demolished. Depots for the Chicago
Northwestern and the Wisconsin Central (Soo Line) were constructed in Waukesha
in the early 1880's but have been altered in this century, resulting in a loss

of integrity.
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SPRINGS BOTTLING PIANTS

Despite the demise of the resort era in the early twentieth century, Waukesha
was able to maintain its minerel springs industry as water was bottled and
shipped across the nation. The Arcadian Bottling Works (later the Roxo Bottling
Company) is the earliest of the bottling plants remaining in Waukesha. De= -
signed by Col. S. V. Shipman, the complex was constructed in 1885, and included
an office and reception bullding, a spring structure and elegant bottling house.
This nominated complex was rehabilitated to apartments in 1977 and is located
at 900 N. Hartwell (Wk 42/26). It is included in the nomination.

Two twentieth century bottling plants also remain in Waukesha. The White Rock
Mineral Company is a three=story concrete structure dating from 1912-13 and
located at 1702 White Rock Avenue (Wk 42/36). The Waukesha Pure Food Company
building, constructed in 1916, is an excellent example of industrial Gothic
design and is located at 550 Elizabeth Street (Wk 4/20). Both are included in
the nomination. :

EDUCATIONAL BUILDINGS

The most distinctive academic bulldings remaining in Waukesha are those associated
with Carroll College all of which are addressed at 100 N. East Avenue. Main Hall
(Wk 37/35), built in 1887, is an eclectic stone building featuring a three-story
tower capped by a cupola. Voorhees Hall (Wk 37/36) and Rankin Hall (Wk 38/2)

both built in 1906, flank Main Hall and harmonize with the older building.
Ganfield Gymmasium (Wk 38/3) built in 1923, is also an eclectic stone building
with overtones of the Prairie School. All four of these builldings are pivotal
within the College Avenue Historic District.

Other schools remaining in the City are brick structures, dating from 1915 to
1920, and are not architecturally significant. Blair School, dating from 1889,
was originally a fine Queen Anne design; however, a 1939 remodeling drastically .
changed the character of the building.

RELIGIOUS

The majority of Waukesha's churches are located south of the Fox River, forming
a semi=circular enclosure around the main commercial center of the community.
St. Matthias Episcopal, a Gothic Revival style building at 111l E. Main Street
(Wk 5/19), was begun in 1851 and completed in 1855 and is constructed of local
stone, randomly coursed. The First Baptist Church, constructed of limestone
in 1872, is a fine example -of Victorian Gothic ecclesiastical architecture.at
247 N. Grand Avenue (Wk 4/29). The Gothic theme which appeared in St. Matthias
Episcopal Church was further developed in this design, executed by a regionally
important architect, Edward Townsend Mix. St. Joseph’s Catholie Church at 818
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N. East Avenue (Wk 5/19), completed in 1890, is also an excellent example

of High Victorian Gothic design. The First Methodist Church at 121 Wisconsin
Avenue (Wk 4/35), is constructed of rock faced limestone blocks randomly
coursed which emphasise the massive quality of this very fine Romanesqu
design. all of these churches are included in the nomination. '

The largest land use in the City of Waukesha is Singlee-and-Two-Family
Residential (4O Percent), followed by Transportation/Commmications/ Utilities
§30 Percent), Residential Iand Under Development. (10 Percent), Recreational

6 Percent), Manufacturing/Wholesale (5 Percent), Governmental/Tnstitutional
(5 Percent), Commercial (3 Percent) and Multi-Family Residential (1 Percent).

Sources

(1) TLoerke, Jean Penn, "Waukesha ILimestone: The Quarries, Kilns and the
Buildings,"” Waukesha County Historical Museum, 1978.

(2) Waukesha Freeman, April 19, 1917,
ARCHEOLOGY
The Intensive Architectural/ Historical Survey of Waukesha did not include an

archeological component, and thus no archeological sites are included in the
nomination,

SURVEY METHODOLOGY

The firm of Howard Needles Tammen & Bergendoff was selected to conduct an inten-
sive historical/architectural survey of the City of Waukesha, Wisconsin in Nowel=
ber 1981, The Project Historian was Charles Causier; the Project Architectural
Historian was Dorothy Steele, In early January 1982, an organizational meeting
was held between the City and the Historic Preservation Division of the State
Historical Society of Wisconsin, Following that meeting the consultant initiated
the project, first identifying the following institutions as key resources: the
State Historical Society of Wisconsin archives, historical and iconographic
collectiong; the Waukesha County Historical Museum archives; the Waukesha Public
Library historical collections; the Waukesha County Treasurer and Register of Deeds;
and the Waukesha City Assessor's Office.

Reconnaissance Survey

The Historic Preservation Division employed a summer intern in 1979 to conduct

a street-by-street windshield survey 6f the City of Waukesha yhich resulted in

the identification of over 400 sites of historical or architectural interest. The
first phase of the project was to update that reconnaissance survey. In addition

to checking sites identified in 1979, the entire city was divided into manageable

quadrants and the structures on each city street were resurveyed for potential
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sites which were not originally included. The added sites were primarily

of potential architectural merit although some identified by local resources

as being historically important were also included. The specific methodology
used consisted of a judgement made in the field by the Project Architectural
Historian to include a property for its architectural merit. Field notes were
taken and the property photographed. Upon completion of the field work, survey
cards were written for new .listings on the reconnaissance survey and each
property was plotted on a large scale map of the City. The mapping enabled the
consultants to determine where concentrations of potentially eligible properties
were located to assist in the delineation of potential historic districts, The
new reconnaissance survey cards as well as continuation cards were typed and dry-
mounted by the City staff.

Intensive Survey

With this initial work completed, a first cut determination was made on those
properties found to be architecturally important, In addition, tentative his=
toric districts:were outlined, Following the initial sorting of sites, field
checks were made with the Historic Preservation Division staff of the potential
historic district areas on February 11 and February 25 1982. At that time, four
potential districts were outlined. Later, a fifth potential district was sug-
gested to the Division staff.

After the field checks, the Project Historian began to research major themes in

the City's history and to identify significant buildings associated with the
significant historical patterns, events, and people in Waukesha's past. The

buildings identified through the thematic research were.  studied further using

as many additional primary sources as possible. While the Project Historian
researched the history of the community, the Project Architectural Historian
researched prevalent architectural styles uncovered by the survey and the significant
architects and builders who had practiced in the city. Where still existing, examples
of their work were reviewed.

Following the thematic research, the project team had what was considered a
complete list of potentially eligible properties. At this point, site specific
research was conducted on each property to better determine its eligibility.
The consultant met with representatives of the Historic Preservation Division
in July 1982 to review the results of the intensive survey and to make £inal
recommendations on eligible properties and district boundaries.,

Although the general methodology for the project has been explained, an additional
word is required regarding the treatment of the several districts identified in the
course of the survey. The district boundaries were originally identified during the
reconnaissance survey by noting concentrations of pivotal and contributing struc-
tures unified by a common theme. Following consultation with the Historic
Preservation Division boundaries were set based on the property lines of those
buildings which seemed to conform with